# **FILED**

DEC 05 2016

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

SUPREME COURT NO. 1388.

NO. 73401-6-1

| THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF W                               | NO. 73401-6-1<br>ASHINGTON          |
|---|-------------------------------------|
|   |                                     |
| STATE OF WASHINGTON,  |                                     |
| Respondent,   | FILED<br>Nov 28, 2                  |
| ν.  | Court of Ap<br>Division             |
| CHRISTOPHER HOOD,   | State of Was                        |
| Petitioner.   |                                     |
|   |                                     |

#### B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. WPIC 4.01<sup>1</sup> requires jurors to articulate a reason for having reasonable doubt. Does this articulation requirement undermine the presumption of innocence and shift the burden of proof to the accused?
- 2. Hood's first degree burglary and felony violation of a nocontact order convictions involved the same victim, same time and place, and same intent. Did the trial court err by concluding, without any analysis, that burglary and felony violation of a no-contact had different intents and did the Court of Appeals err by basing its decision on what the trial court *could have* found?
- 3. First degree burglary qualifies as both a "violent offense" under RCW 9.94A.030(55)(a)(i) and a "crime against persons" under RCW 9.94A.411(2). The community custody statute, RCW 9.94A.701, does not specify which community custody term to impose when an offense qualifies

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 11 WASH. PRACTICE: WASH. PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 4.01, at 85 (3d ed. 2008).

as both violent and against persons. Is RCW 9.94A.701 therefore ambiguous and must the lesser community custody term be imposed under the rule of lenity?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State charged Hood with first degree burglary, stalking, and felony violation of a no-contact order (FVNCO). CP 14-16. All three counts contained domestic violence allegations and, with respect to the burglary and FVNCO charges, the State also allege the offenses were part of an ongoing pattern of abuse under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(i). CP 14-15.

The charges arose out of Hood's alleged conduct toward his ex-wife, L.D. Hood's and L.D.'s divorce became final in November 2014. RP 230. Hood still had a copy of the keys to L.D.'s condo, however, and L.D. had found Hood in her apartment a couple times. RP 231-32. L.D. changed the locks to her front door but Hood apparently maintained access to the building. RP 234.

L.D. and others described separate occasions where someone tried to pry open L.D.'s door, glued the door shut, and spray painted the door. RP 162-64, 182-84, 237-42, 307-10, 316. L.D. obtained a no-contact order against Hood and also testified Hood had violated the no-contact order by showing up to her workplace and following her car when she got off work. RP 242-46, 248-49.

According to L.D., in the early morning hours of November 21, 2014, L.D. saw shadows outside her condo and opened the door to find Hood outside. RP 251. She testified Hood pushed her to the ground; she screamed for help but Hood put his hand over her mouth. RP 251-53. L.D. also stated Hood put a gun to her head, hit her two or three times with the gun, and then left. RP 253-55. L.D. called police. RP 255.

The trial court gave the pattern instruction on reasonable doubt, which read, in part, "A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists." CP 65; RP 425.

The jury found Hood guilty of first degree burglary, stalking, and FVNCO. CP 56-58. The jury also, following the second phase of trial, determined the first degree burglary and the FVNCO were part of an ongoing pattern of psychological, physical, or sexual abuse manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time. CP 91-92.

At sentencing, Hood asserted the first degree burglary and FVNCO constituted the same criminal conduct. RP 555-56. The trial court, without analysis, stated, "Those two offenses have different criminal intent," and did not consider the defense argument further. RP 555.

Based on the State's recommendation, the court imposed an exceptional sentence for the burglary of 156 months. CP 114; RP 562. The court imposed a concurrent 60-month sentence for the FVNCO and a

suspended 34-day sentence for stalking. CP 114, 122; RP 562. The court also imposed an 18-month community custody term for the commission of a violent offense. CP 115; RP 562.

Hood appealed. CP 132. Among other things, he challenged the articulation requirement in Washington's pattern instruction on reasonable doubt, argued the first degree burglary and FVNCO constituted the same criminal conduct under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a), and also contended RCW 9.94A.701 was ambiguous as to the community custody term for first degree burglary given that first degree burglary is both a violent offense and a crime against persons under RCW 9.94A.030(55)(a)(i) and RCW 9.94A.411(2), respectively. Br. of Appellant at 6-27, 29-36.

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals determined Hood's challenge to the reasonable doubt instruction was not preserved for appellate review. Hood, 382 P.3d at 714. The Court of Appeals also rejected Hood's same criminal conduct argument, reasoning that the trial court "could have reasonably taken a different view of the evidence." Id. The Court of Appeals also determined Hood's reading of the community custody statutes was not reasonable, stating, "The only reasonable reading of RCW 9.94A.701 is that it requires a term of 18 months of community custody for a violent offense that is not considered a serious violent offense, even if it is also a crime against persons." Hood, 382 P.3d at 716.

#### D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. WPIC 4.01 DISTORTS THE REASONABLE DOUBT STANDARD, UNDERMINES THE PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE, AND SHIFTS THE BURDEN OF PROOF TO THE ACCUSED

The pattern jury instruction requires the jury or the defense articulate "a reason" for having reasonable doubt. This articulation requirement distorts the reasonable doubt standard, undermines the presumption of innocence, and shifts the burden of proof to the accused. Because it presents a significant constitutional question that has not been directly addressed by this court, and because it implicates jury instructions given in every criminal trial in Washington, this court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

Jury instructions must be manifestly clear and not misleading to the ordinary mind. State v. Dana, 73 Wn.2d 533, 537, 439 P.2d 403 (1968). The error in WPIC 4.01 is readily apparent to the ordinary mind: having a "reasonable doubt" is not, as a matter of plain English, the same as having "a reason" to doubt. WPIC 4.01's use of the words "a reason" clearly indicates that reasonable doubt must be capable of explanation or justification.

Prosecutors have several times argued that juries must be able to articulate a reason for reasonable doubt, demonstrating that the reasonable doubt standard is not manifestly clear to legally trained professionals, let alone jurors. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>State v. Emery</u>, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012); <u>State</u>

v. Walker, 164 Wn. App. 724, 731, 265 P.3d 191 (2011); State v. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. 677, 682, 243 P.3d 936 (2010); State v. Venegas, 155 Wn. App. 507, 523-24 & n.16, 228 P.3d 813 (2010); State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 431, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009). Indeed, the prosecutors in Johnson and Anderson recited WPIC 4.01's text before making their improper fill-in-the-blank arguments. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. at 682; Anderson, 153 Wn. App. at 424. It makes no sense to condemn articulation arguments from prosecutors but continue giving the very jury instruction that gave rise to these improper arguments. Because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with these cases and cases requiring jury instructions to be manifestly clear, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

Review is also appropriate because this court's own precedent is in serious disarray. In <u>State v. Kalebaugh</u>, 183 Wn.2d 578, 585, 355 P.3d 253 (2015), this court determined that the instruction "a doubt for which a reason can be given" was error, but that WPIC 4.01's "a doubt for which a reason exists" was not. This holding directly conflicts with this court's precedent that equated "for which a reason can be given" and "for which a reason exists."

In <u>State v. Harras</u>, 25 Wash. 416, 421, 65 P. 774 (1901), this court found no error in the instruction, "It should be a doubt for which a good reason exists." This court maintained the "great weight of authority" supported this instruction, citing the note to Burt v. State, 16 So. 342, 48 Am. St. Rep. 574

(Miss. 1894). This note, which is attached as Appendix B, cites cases using or approving instructions that define reasonable doubt as a doubt for which a reason can be given.<sup>2</sup>

In <u>State v. Harsted</u>, 66 Wash. 158, 162, 119 P. 24 (1911), the defendant objected to the instruction, "The expression 'reasonable doubt' means in law just what the words imply—a doubt founded upon some good reason." This court opined, "As a pure question of logic, there can be no difference between a doubt for which a reason can be given, and one for which a good reason can be given." <u>Id.</u> at 162-63. This court relied on out-of-state cases, including <u>Butler v. State</u>, 102 Wis. 364, 78 N.W. 590, 591-92 (1899), which stated, "A doubt cannot be reasonable unless a reason therefor exists, and, if such reason exists, it can be given." This court was "impressed" with this view and therefore felt "constrained" to uphold the instruction. <u>Harsted</u>, 66 Wash. at 165.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See, e.g., State v. Jefferson, 43 La. Ann. 995, 998-99, 10 So. 119 (La. 1891) ("A reasonable doubt . . . is not a mere possible doubt; it should be an actual or substantial doubt as a reasonable man would seriously entertain. It is a serious sensible doubt, such as you could give a good reason for."); Vann v. State, 9 S. E. 945, 947-48 (Ga. 1889) ("But the doubt must be a reasonable doubt, not a conjured-up doubt,—such a doubt as you might conjure up to acquit a friend, but one that you could give a reason for."); State v. Morey, 25 Or. 241, 256, 36 P. 573 (1894) ("A reasonable doubt is a doubt which has some reason for its basis. It does not mean a doubt from mere caprice, or groundless conjecture. A reasonable doubt is such a doubt as a juror can give a reason for.").

More recently, in <u>State v. Weiss</u>, this court determined the instruction, "A reasonable doubt is a doubt for a which a sensible reason <u>can be given</u>," was "a correct statement of law." 73 Wn.2d 372, 378-79, 438 P.2d 610 (1968) (emphasis added). Although ultimately disapproving the instruction because it was too abbreviated, this court concluded "the trial court did not err in submitting the instruction given." <u>Id.</u> at 379.

Harras and Harsted viewed "a doubt for which a good reason exists" as equivalent to requiring that a reason must be given for the doubt. In Weiss, this court determined that an instruction stating that a reasonable doubt was one for which a "sensible reason can be given," was a correct statement of the law. These decisions cannot be squared with Kalebaugh and Emery, both of which strongly rejected the concept that jurors must be able to articulate a reason for having reasonable doubt. Kalebaugh, 183 Wn.2d at 585; Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760.

It is time for a Washington court to seriously confront the problematic articulation language in WPIC 4.01.<sup>3</sup> There is no meaningful difference between WPIC 4.01's doubt "for which a reason exists" and a doubt "for which a reason can be given." Both require articulation, and articulation of reasonable doubt undermines the presumption of innocence and shifts the burden of proof to the accused. Because this court's and the Court of Appeals' decisions are in disarray on the significant constitutional issue of properly defining reasonable doubt in every criminal jury trial, Hood's arguments merit review under all four of the RAP 13.4(b) criteria.

2. THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO ENGAGE IN ANY SAME CRIMINAL CONDUCT ANALYSIS AND THE COURT OF APPEALS ACQUIESCED IN THIS FAILURE BASED ON WHAT THE TRIAL COURT COULD HAVE DONE

The sentencing range for a person who is sentenced for two or more current offenses "shall be determined by using all other current and prior

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals determined Hood failed to preserve this issue for appellate review without addressing Hood's claim that failure to adequately instruct the jury on reasonable doubt is structural error under Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 279-80, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 125 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993). Hood, 382 P.3d at 714; Br. of Appellant at 23. Contrary to the Court of Appeals decision, this court has held that structural errors qualify as manifest constitutional errors for RAP 2.5(a)(3) purposes. State v. Paumier, 176 Wn.2d 29, 36-37, 288 P.3d 1126 (2012). In addition, the same division of the Court of Appeals has concluded that a challenge to WPIC 4.01 does constitute manifest constitutional error. State v. Paris, noted at 195 Wn. App. 1033, 2016 WL 4187765, at \*1 (2016). The conflicts between the Court of Appeals decision in this case and other appellate decisions warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

convictions as if they were prior convictions for the purpose of the offender score" unless the crimes involve the "same criminal conduct." RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). "Same criminal conduct" means crimes that involve the same intent, were committed at the same time and place, and involved the same victim. Id.

At sentencing, the State asserted Hood's offender score for the first degree burglary was 8, which included two points for the other current FVNCO. CP 165. Based on the other current first degree burglary, the State argued Hood's offender score with respect to the FVNCO was 7. CP 166. However, because the burglary and FVNCO comprised the same criminal conduct, Hood's offender score for each should have been 6 and 5, respectively.

The burglary and FVNCO occurred at the same time and place against the same person—November 21, 2014 against L.D. CP 6-7 (certification for determination of probable cause stating Hood "stepped into the doorway and pushed [L.D.] back into the apartment causing her to fall to the floor" and proceeded to assault L.D. with a firearm); RP 251, 253-54 (L.D. testifying she saw shadow outside, opened front door, Hood then pushed her, she fell down, and Hood assaulted her). Thus, there was evidence before the trial court to conclude that the burglary (pushing the door open and entering L.D.'s condominium to assault her) and the FVNCO (pushing the door open and

entering L.D.'s condominium to assault her) occurred at the same time, same place, against the same victim, and to further the same assault.

When defense counsel began to make the same criminal conduct argument, the trial court stated, "Those two offenses have different criminal intent," and rejected the defense argument without further analysis. RP 555. This was incorrect given that the standard "is the extent to which the criminal intent, objectively viewed, changed from one crime to the next." State v. Vike, 125 Wn.2d 407, 411, 885 P.2d 824 (1994). The appropriate analysis "takes into consideration how intimately related the crimes committed are" and whether one crime furthered the other. State v. Burns, 114 Wn.2d 314, 318, 788 P.2d 531 (1990).

Under the facts, the burglary and the felony violation of a no-contact order involved the same objective—Hood intended to assault L.D. He pushed open L.D.'s front door, pushed her to the floor, and assault her. His objective for both crimes were the same: he intended to enter her condo and assault her. These offenses should have been treated as a single offense at sentencing. Because the trial court failed to engage in the appropriate objective intent analysis under this court's precedent—indeed, the trial court refused to exercise its discretion—review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

The Court of Appeals disagreed with Hood based not on what the trial court did but what it could have done. <u>Hood</u>, 382 P.3d at 714-15. The Court

of Appeals determined that the "sentencing court could have reasonably taken a different view of the evidence" and that "the trial court could have reasonably found that Hood did not necessarily intend an assault when he approached the condo." <u>Id.</u> at 714. The problem with this reasoning is that the issue is not what the trial court could have done; the issue is that the trial court did not do what it should have done, which is perform the same criminal conduct analysis required to reach a meaningful decision.

The trial court just as easily could have concluded that Hood's objective intent was the same when he committed the burglary and the FVNCO. This is so for two reasons.

First, burglary is the unlawful entering or remaining in a building with an intent to commit a crime against persons or property therein. Thus, Hood's intent to commit FVNCO could have been coextensive with his intent to commit the burglary. Burglary is unique because it adopts the intent to commit some other crime: when there are two crimes committed and one is burglary, the burglary and the other crime should almost always constitute the same criminal conduct. This is precisely why the legislature has enacted the burglary anti-merger statute, RCW 9A.52.050.

Second, Hood's assault was what elevated the burglary to a first degree offense and was also one of the means to elevate the no-contact order violation to a felony offense. CP 70, 83. Had the trial court conducted any

actual analysis on the same criminal conduct issue, it could have concluded that Hood's intent to assault L.D. was what objectively drove him to commit the burglary and FVNCO.

Because the trial court failed to apply any legal standard, it abused its discretion given that a "trial court abuses its discretion when it fails to exercise its discretion." State v. Stearman, 187 Wn. App. 257, 265, 348 P.3d 394 (2015). Trial courts must actually exercise their discretion on questions of same criminal conduct and the trial court's statement here, "Those two offenses have different criminal intent," is a misapplication of the law and therefore an abuse of discretion. Cf. State v. Graciano, 176 Wn.2d 531, 536-37, 295 P.3d 219 (2013). The Court of Appeals decision—based not on the trial court's exercise of discretion but on how the trial court could have exercised its discretion had it performed its duty—conflicts with these principles. This court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

3. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION REWRITES THE COMMUNITY CUSTODY STATUTES IN A MANNER THAT TRANGRESSES ON LEGISLATIVE POWER AND CONFLICTS WITH THE PRECEDENT OF THIS COURT

First degree burglary is statutorily defined as both a violent offense and a crime against a person. RCW 9.94A.030(55)(a)(i) ("Violent offense" includes "[a]ny felony defined under any law as a class A felony"); RCW 9A.52.020(2) ("Burglary in the first degree is a class A felony."); RCW

9.94A.411(2) ("1st Degree Burglary" categorized among "CRIMES AGAINST PERSONS"). These two types of offense carry different community custody terms under RCW 9.94A.701(2) and (3). Because the statutes conflict and cannot be reconciled, they are ambiguous and the rule of lenity requires them to be interpreted in Hood's favor. Hood's community custody term should be 12 months, not 18 months.

The trial court imposed 18 months of community custody because first degree burglary is a class A felony and class A felonies qualify as violent offenses under RCW 9.94A.030(55)(a)(i). CP 115. This community custody term is consistent with RCW 9.94A.701(2), which provides a "court shall . . . sentence an offender to community custody for [18] months when the court sentences the person to the custody of the department for a violent offense that is not considered a serious violent offense."

However, RCW 9.94A.411(2) also specifies that first degree burglary is a crime against persons. RCW 9.94A.701(3) requires the trial court to "sentence an offender to community custody for one year when the court sentences the person to the custody of the department for: (a) Any crime against persons under RCW 9.94A.411(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> First degree burglary is not a serious violent offense under RCW 9.94A.030(46).

Thus, first degree burglary is statutorily defined as both a violent offense and a crime against a person. Different community custody terms apply to these two different classifications of offenses. Because the statute does not specify which community custody term applies in these circumstances, the statue is ambiguous and must be construed in Hood's favor.

See State v. Jacobs, 154 Wn.2d 596, 603, 115 P.3d 281 (2005).

The treatment of "violent offenses" and "crimes against persons" in other contexts confirms Hood's interpretation. When an offender is sentenced to less than one year of incarceration, the court may impose only "up to one year of community custody" for both a violent offense and a crime against persons. RCW 9.94A.702(1). But where the sentence is longer than one year, as here, the statute does not provide a clear community custody term for an offense qualifying as both violent and against a person.

RCW 9.94A.701(1)(b) requires courts to impose three years of community custody for a "serious violent offense." RCW 9.94A.701(2) requires courts to impose 18 months of community custody "for a violent offense that is not considered a serious violent offense." (Emphasis added.) This provision expressly distinguishes between a violent offense and a serious violent offense, making it clear which community custody term applies. By contrast, RCW 9.94A.701(3)(a) makes no such distinction and has no such clarifying language: the trial court must sentence an offender to one year of

community custody for "[a]ny crime against persons under RCW 9.94A.411(2)." The legislature did not say "any crime against persons that is not considered a violent offense," as it did in RCW 9.94A.701(2).

Indeed, "to express one thing in a statute implies the exclusion of the other. Omissions are deemed to be exclusions." In re Det. of Williams, 147 Wn.2d 476, 491, 55 P.3d 597 (2002) (citations omitted). The legislature included clarifying language in RCW 9.94A.701(2) that is omitted in RCW 9.94A.701(3)(a). Therefore, it is not clear from RCW 9.94A.701(3)(a) that the legislature intended first degree burglary to be punished as a violent offense rather than as a crime against a person.

The Court of Appeals rejected this argument, reasoning, "If we adopted Hood's interpretation of the statute, RCW 9.94A.701(1)(b) and (2) would be rendered largely superfluous because many 'serious violent offenses' and 'violent offenses' could only be punished with 12 months of community custody instead of the 3 years or 18 month the legislature prescribed in subsections (1)(b) and (2)." Hood, 382 P.3d at 715-16. The Court of Appeals determined that the "statute sets up a tiered step-down sentencing structure depending on the seriousness of the crime," and that this tiered structure applies to RCW 9.94A.701(3)(a) even though the legislature did not include the same clarifying language it provided in RCW 9.94A.701(2) that an 18-month community custody term applies to a "violent offense that is

not considered a serious violent offense." <u>Hood</u>, 382 P.3d at 716. According to the Court of Appeals, "[t]he clarifying language in subsection (2) is more accurately viewed as an expression of the legislature's intent to create a tiered step-down sentencing structure" and "[t]o determine the plain meaning of subsection (3)(a), it should be interpreted in a way that is consistent with the overall statutory scheme." <u>Hood</u>, 382 P.3d at 716. The problem with the Court of Appeals' analysis is that it rewrites the statute and thereby transgresses on the province of the legislature, which conflicts with constitutional principles and with this court's decisions.

In <u>State v. Delgado</u>, 148 Wn.2d 723, 726-27, 63 P.3d 792 (2003), this court addressed inconsistencies between the two-strike and three-strike provisions of the Persistent Offender Accountability Act: the two-strike statute did not list statutory rape as a predicate strike offense and did not have the same comparability clause as the three-strike statute. This court stated, "We cannot add words or clauses to an unambiguous statute when the legislature has chosen not to include that language." <u>Id.</u> at 727. "[T]he legislature knew how to include comparable offenses in the definition of a persistent offender. Yet, the legislature neither directly included a comparability clause, nor incorporated the definition of a 'most serious offense,' into the definition of two-strike persistent offenders directly following the three-strike definition."

<u>Id.</u> at 728-29. This court therefore presumed "the absence of such language in the two-strike scheme was intentional." <u>Id.</u> at 729.

The <u>Delgado</u> court identified three types of legislative errors in rendering its analysis. <u>Id.</u> at 730-31. "In the first type, a statute contains an omission or mistake, but the court is able to guess why the legislature intended a literal reading of the statute. The court does not correct this type of perceived legislative error." <u>Id.</u> at 730. "In the second type, we will not correct perceived errors if an omission or mistake creates some inconsistencies, but the statute remains rational on the whole." <u>Id.</u> Courts "will not 'arrogate to [them]selves the power to make legislative schemes more perfect, more comprehensive, and more consistent."" <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>State v. Taylor</u>, 97 Wn.2d 724, 729, 649 P.2d 633 (1982)). "The third type of legislative omission, an omission making a statute entirely meaningless, is the only type we will correct." <u>Delgado</u>, 148 Wn.2d at 731. In this third type of case, "the statute is not functional without judicial correction because it is completely ineffective in achieving its purpose." <u>Id.</u>

This court concluded the omission in the two-strike persistent offender statute was of the second type that the court could not correct:

Here, if inconsistencies exist between the two-strike and three-strike provisions, and if they reflect a legislative error, they belong to this second type of case. Reading the two-strike statute to require only those prior offenses listed does not render the act meaningless. Despite potentially inconsistent sentences for those with prior convictions of rape of a child and the former offense of statutory rape, the act still functions to severely punish most recidivist sex offenders.

Id. at 731.

The same is true of Hood's challenge, which likewise falls into the second category of legislative omission discussed in <u>Delgado</u>. Although crimes that are both violent offenses and crimes against persons might create some inconsistencies, the statute remains rational and capable of application. Indeed, under Hood's interpretation, the legislative omission of clarifying language in RCW 9.94A.701(3)(a) akin to that in RCW 9.94A.701(2) would not render the statute entirely meaningless; it would result in him receiving a 12-month community custody term rather than an 18-month community custody term. <u>Cf. Delgado</u>, 148 Wn.2d at 730-31. Because the Court of Appeals decision "arrogated to [itself] the power to make" this legislative scheme "more perfect, more comprehensive, and more consistent," <u>id.</u> at 730, it conflicts with <u>Delgado</u> and usurps the role of the legislature in writing statutes. This merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

#### E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Because he meets all RAP 13.4(b) review criteria, Hood asks that this petition be granted.

DATED this 28th day of November, 2016.

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC

KEVIN A. MARCH WSBA No. 45397

Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Petitioner