RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

NO. 93888-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

CHRISTOPHER HOOD,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JENNIFER P. JOSEPH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington is the Respondent in this case.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals decision at issue is <u>State v. Hood</u>, No. 73401-6-I, filed September 26, 2016 (published).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

If this Court accepts review of this case, the State seeks cross-review of the following additional issue the State raised in the Court of Appeals, which was decided adversely to the State:

The Court of Appeals concluded that Hood waived his challenge to the reasonable doubt instruction by failing to object in the trial court because the issue was not a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. As an alternative ground to affirm, the State renews its argument that Hood invited any error by affirmatively joining in and stipulating to the State's proposed instructions.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant, Christopher Hood, was convicted of three crimes of domestic violence as defined under RCW 10.99.020:

burglary in the first degree, felony violation of a court order, and stalking. CP 111-24. The relevant facts are set forth in the State's briefing before the Court of Appeals. Brief of Respondent at 2-8.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions in a unanimous published opinion. <u>State v. Hood</u>, __ Wn. App. __, 382 P.3d 710 (September 26, 2016).

E. ARGUMENT

In his petition for review, Hood raises the same issues presented to the Court of Appeals: whether the pattern instruction on reasonable doubt that this Court mandated be given in all criminal trials offends the constitution; whether the trial court properly concluded that Hood's convictions for burglary and felony violation of a court order were not the same criminal conduct; and whether RCW 9.94A.701 is ambiguous as to the community custody term applicable to first degree burglary. The State's briefing at the Court of Appeals adequately responds to the issues raised in Hood's petition for review.

If review is accepted, the State seeks cross-review of issues it raised in the Court of Appeals but that the Court's decision rejected. RAP 13.4(d). The provisions of RAP 13.4(b) are

inapplicable because the State is not seeking review, and believes that review by this Court is unnecessary. However, if the Court grants review, in the interests of justice and full consideration of the issues, the Court should also grant review of the alternative argument raised in the Court of Appeals, which it believes is consistent with existing law. RAP 1.2(a), RAP 13.7(b).

The State argued in the Brief of Respondent that Hood invited any instructional error when he "joined in" and "stipulated to" the State's proposed jury instructions, which the trial court ultimately submitted to the jury. The Court of Appeals rejected that argument because it struggled to understand why the trial court stated on the record that the defense was "joining in" the instructions proposed by the State when there was no other record of Hood "formally stipulating to the correctness of the instructions proposed by the State." Slip op. at 6.

The State argued for reconsideration, noting that the trial court's comments should be read in context, and in context it was plain that the trial court was memorializing conversations that had occurred between counsel and the court. Motion to Reconsider at 4-7; Record of Proceedings (RP) 290 (trial court states, "I wanted to put on the record that counsel has stipulated to the jury instructions

submitted by the prosecution.), 415-16 ("[A]s I understand it, the defense has joined in the submission of the prosecution, so those should be ready to go."). The Court of Appeals appears to have overlooked the context and assumed that the trial court was simply irrational; that it repeatedly stated on the record that Hood had stipulated to the State's instructions despite having no basis to do so. The trial court is entitled to greater deference. See State v.

Jasper, 174 Wn.2d 96, 123-24, 271 P.3d 876, 891 (2012) ("the appellate court will presume any conceivable state of facts within the scope of the pleadings and not inconsistent with the record which will sustain and support the ruling or decision complained of; but it will not, for the purpose of finding reversible error, presume the existence of facts as to which the record is silent).

The State also sought reconsideration because the Court of Appeals stated in this published opinion that "a defendant has no duty to propose the instructions that will enable the State to convict him." Slip op. at 5. This assertion is not warranted and may confound trial courts in their attempts to solicit assistance from trial counsel on preparing accurate jury instructions.

The purpose of an instruction is to furnish guidance to the jury in its deliberations, and to aid it in arriving at a proper verdict, so far as it is competent for the court to assist them. The chief objectives contemplated in the charge of the judge are to explain the law of the case, to point out the essentials to be proved on one side or the other, and to bring into view the relation of the particular evidence adduced to the particular issues involved.

13 Wash. Prac., Criminal Practice & Procedure § 4401 (3d ed.). The jury instructions define the circumstances under which a defendant *might* be convicted. A flawed reasonable doubt instruction is structural error because it allows the jury convict on a lesser standard than permitted by law. Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993). Both the State and the defendant have a strong and vested interest in getting the instructions right. It is simply inaccurate to say that jury instructions exist solely to help convict the defendant.

The rules regarding preservation of error create incentives for litigants to object at a point in the proceedings when any problem can be fixed. See State v. Mendes, 180 Wn.2d 188, 194, 322 P.3d 791 (2014), cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 1718 (2015) ("CrR 6.15(a) contemplates that jury instructions be submitted before trial and that the jury instructions could be settled before trial."). Lawyers should be thoughtfully engaging in the jury instructions – not shrugging their shoulders and waiting to see what

an appellate attorney thinks should have been done. The language in the Court of Appeals opinion undermines these principles, and should be disavowed.

F. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully asks that the petition for review be denied. However, if review is granted, in the interests of justice the State seeks cross-review of the issues identified in Section C and E, <u>supra</u>.